IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

MARILEE BROWN; MARILOU BROWN; AND GREGORY J. BROWN;

Appellants,

VS.

ST. MARY'S REGIONAL MEDICAL CENTER; TAMMY EVANS (ERRONEOUSLY NAMED AS TAMI EVANS); PREM REDDY, M.D.; TANZEEL ISLAM, M.D.; SRIDEVI CHALLAPALLI, M.D.; AND MARK MCCALLISTER, M.D., Electronically Filed Aug 16 2021 03:25 p.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

Case No.: 81434 - COA

Respondents.

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

Don Springmeyer, Esq. (#1021) KEMP JONES, LLP 3800 Howard Hughes Pkwy, 17th Floor Las Vegas, Nevada 89169 d.springmeyer@kempjones.com *Attorneys for Appellants*

NRAP 26.1 DISCLOSURE

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

This is an appeal from the Second Judicial District Court's Order Granting Motion to Dismiss Plaintiffs' Complaint for Failure to Comply with NRS 41A.071. Notice of Entry of the final judgment was served on June 10, 2020. Appellants timely filed a Notice of Appeal on June 26, 2020, as required by NRAP 4(a)(1). *See* ROA 3:341, 3:357.¹ This Court has jurisdiction pursuant to NRAP 3A(b)(1).

ROUTING STATEMENT

This appeal is presumptively retained by the Supreme Court under NRAP 17(a)(13) because it addresses an issue of first impression involving the United States and Nevada constitutions. This appeal is further presumptively retained by the Supreme Court under NRAP 17(a)(14) because it raises as a principal issue of a question of statewide public importance regarding the constitutionality of NRS 41A.071's expert affidavit requirement.

ISSUES PRESENTED

- Does NRS 41A.071's expert affidavit requirement violate the separation of powers doctrine?
- 2. Does NRS 41A.071's expert affidavit requirement deny Appellants open access to the courts?

¹ Citations to the Record on Appeal will use the format "ROA 3:357" to signify Volume 3, page 357.

3. Do any of Appellants' allegations sound in ordinary negligence such that they are not subject to NRS 41A.071's expert affidavit requirement?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Beverly Morris Brown (hereinafter "Brown") died on March 5, 2019, as a result of improper medical treatment she received in December 2018 and February 2019 as a patient and in the care of Respondents St. Mary's Regional Medical Center, Tammy Evans (a/k/a Tami Evans), Prem Reddy, M.D., Tanzeel Islam, M.D., Sridevi Challapalli, M.D., and Mark McCallister, M.D. ("Respondents").

After her untimely death, Brown's children (Appellants herein) tried numerous times to speak with Respondents regarding the improper treatment and lack of communication that caused their mother's death, to no avail. A family friend informed Appellant Marilee Brown (daughter of the deceased) that the statute of limitations was about to run on her mother's claim if she did not file an action. Accordingly, Appellant Marilee Brown hastily prepared a *pro se* complaint, wholly unaware of NRS 41A.071's affidavit requirement, merely to preserve her mother's claims. The Complaint largely alleges that the negligent actions of Respondents resulted in Brown's death.

The Respondents moved to dismiss the case on the basis that it did not comply with NRA 41A.071's expert affidavit requirement. The district court granted the motion and the Brown family appealed on their mother's behalf. The Respondents again moved to dismiss the case for various reasons and the Supreme Court recommended the case to the pro bono program.

Appellants request that this Court hold that the onerous expert affidavit requirement of NRS 41A.071 is unconstitutional, at least as applied to them as indigent *pro se* litigants, as these onerous requirements encroach upon the judiciary's authority to make the rules and procedures for the courts, and because the expert affidavit requirement denies indigent claimants access to the courts. This Court would not be the first to make that holding. However, even if the Court chooses to uphold the statute's preclusive effect on some of the Respondents' claims, there are some claims that sound in ordinary negligence and were, therefore, never subject to NRS 41A.071's affidavit requirement, in which case the Court should reverse and remand this case to the district court for further proceedings on the claims that sound in ordinary negligence.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

I. Factual Background

Beverly Brown ("Brown") had chronic medical conditions of cardiovascular disease. *See e.g.* ROA 2:6 (discussion of Brown's existing cardiac conditions). In December 2018, Brown was hospitalized at Saint Mary's Regional Medical Center ("St. Mary's") for a cardiovascular condition. ROA 2:3, 2:6–7. While at St. Mary's, doctors removed Brown from her lifesaving medications for a procedure without consulting with her primary cardiologist, even though the doctor was in the same building. ROA 2:7. Brown 's cardiologist would have advised against this and kept her on these medications unless necessary if he had been consulted. ROA 2:7.

On or about February 20, 2019, Brown was again admitted to St. Mary's for low oxygen levels. ROA 2:8. The original 2018 procedure and removal of medication resulted in a building of fluid in Brown's lungs that could no longer be removed by procedure. ROA 2:8. Brown's second hospitalization lasted eight days due to a procedural error that was further complicated by taking Brown off lifesaving medication. ROA 2:8. During this time, Brown's family asked multiple times if St. Mary's was still administering Brown's life-saving medications and staff assured her family she was. ROA 2:8. The family only learned Brown was, in fact, not being administered her medications when they received the discharge information. ROA 2:8.

While at St. Mary's, Brown's condition became dire. Despite late specialist intervention at the demand of the family, detrimental damage was done. ROA 2:8. Additionally, Brown now had pneumonia and they placed her in a room with a seriously infected patient, which only exacerbated the condition. ROA 2:8, 2:10. However, Brown was still discharged on February 28, 2019 leaving only with oxygen. ROA 2:10.

Within three days of discharge, Brown suffered a stroke caused by cranial blockage, usually prevented by the medication Brown's family had begged doctors to keep her on. ROA 2:10–11. She was admitted to Renown Regional Medical Center ("Renown"). ROA 2:11. While at Renown, St. Mary's failed to timely fax vital documentation requested by Renown for assisting in care and treatment of Brown. ROA 2:11. After being intubated, Brown passed away on March 5, 2019. ROA 2:12.

From April 2019 to the filling of lawsuit, Brown's family attempted to address issues with St Mary's to which they, at first, received no response. ROA 2:14. During this time, St. Mary's refused to return phone calls; nor would they discuss matters when the family physically went to the hospital. ROA 2:5. Eventually, Brown's family was referred to the Risk Management department. ROA 2:14. This time the department stated it would investigate the matter and respond within 45 days. *Id.* Finally, the Appellants were notified that no ADR programs could be accessed unless a formal civil complaint was filed. ROA 2:14. At the same time, the Appellants learned that the statute of limitations was about to run on Brown's claim if they did not file a legal action. Thus, Brown's family had no choice but to file this civil action in order to engage the court and utilize other programs to facilitate resolution of this matter.

II. Procedural Background

Based upon the history set forth above, Respondent Marilee Brown hastily prepared a complaint, wholly unaware of NRS 41A.071's affidavit requirement, merely to preserve her family's legal rights in light of impending running of the statute of limitations for their claims. ROA 2:1–17.

The Respondents moved to dismiss the Complaint on the basis that it did not comply with NRA 41A.071's expert affidavit requirement. ROA 2:34. The district court granted the motion and the Brown family appealed on their mother's behalf. ROA 3:328, 3:357. The Respondents again moved to dismiss the case for various reasons and the Supreme Court recommended the case to the pro bono program.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The Appellants challenge the constitutionality of NRS 41A.071's medical expert affidavit requirement in medical malpractice cases, in particular as applied to an indigent *pro se* plaintiff. The requirement violates the separation of powers, as it interferes with the judiciary's obligation to set its own procedural rules. The requirement places unreasonable barriers to the guaranteed access to the courts. Even if this Court disagrees that the statute is unconstitutional, the Appellants are entitled to relief because at least one of their claims sounds in ordinary negligence, not professional negligence that would require an accompanying medical expert affidavit.

ARGUMENT

I. Standard of Review

This Court "rigorously review orders granting NRCP 12(b)(5) motions to dismiss, presuming all alleged facts in the complaint to be true and drawing all inferences in favor of the plaintiff." *Buzz Stew, LLC v. City of N. Las Vegas*, 124 Nev. 224, 227–28, 181 P.3d 670, 672 (2008). Dismissing a complaint is appropriate "only if it appears beyond a doubt that [the plaintiff] could prove no set of facts, which, if true, would entitle [the plaintiff] to relief." *Id.* at 228, 181 P.3d at 672. This Court reviews legal conclusions of the trial court *de novo. Id.*

II. The District Court's Application of NRS 41A.071 Violates the Separation of Powers

NRS 41A.071's expert affidavit requirement impermissibly violates the separation of powers doctrine because it conflicts with Nevada's notice pleading standard and, therefore, encroaches on the judiciary's authority to promulgate court rules and procedures.

The Nevada State Constitution contains a formal separation of powers clause, stating that:

The powers of the Government of the State of Nevada shall be divided into three separate departments, — the Legislative, — the Executive and the Judicial; and no persons charged with the exercise of powers properly belonging to one of these departments shall exercise any functions, appertaining to either of the others, except in the cases expressly directed or permitted in this constitution.

Nev. Const. Art. 3, § 1(1). And "the judiciary has the inherent power to govern its own procedures" so long as they do not violate the constitution or "abridge, enlarge or modify any substantive right." *State v. Conner*, 99 Nev. 342, 345, 661 P.2d 1298, 1300 (1983). Although the legislature can enact legislation that impacts the courts, "the legislature may not enact a procedural statute that conflicts with a pre-procedural rule, without violating the doctrine of separation of powers." *Id.* Thus, where the legislature's rule conflicts with existing procedural rules, the existing judicial procedural rule supersedes the legislative rule rendering it invalid. *Id.* The United States Supreme Court has even stated:

This separation is not merely a matter of convenience or of governmental mechanism. Its object is basic and vital... namely, to preclude a commingling of these essentially different powers of government in the same hands.... If it be important thus to separate the several departments of government and restrict them to the exercise of their appointed powers, it follows ... that each department should be kept completely independent of the others.

Wimley v. Reid, 991 So. 2d 135, 137-38 (Miss. 2008) (citing O 'Donoghue v. United States, 289 U.S. 516 (1933)).

Additionally, NRS 41A.071 is in conflict with Nevada Rules of Civil Procedure 8 and 9 because it establishes an additional pleading requirement on medical malpractice claimants, not otherwise required by other tort claimants. NRS 41A.071 provides that a complaint alleging medical malpractice must be filed with "an affidavit, supporting the allegations contained in the action, submitted by a medical expert who practices ... in an area that is substantially similar to the type of practice engaged in at the time of the alleged malpractice." NRS 41A.071 is "a preliminary procedural rule" that essentially creates a heightened pleading standard for only medical malpractice claimants that conflicts with the Nevada Rules of Civil Procedure. *Zohar v. Zbiegin*, 334 P.3rd 402, 406 (Nev. 2014) (quoting *Borger v. Eighth Judicial Dist. Court ex rel. Cnty. of Clark*, 120 Nev. 1021, 1027, 102 P.3d 600, 605 (2004)).

For example, NRCP 8(a) states that a pleading shall contain "(1) a short and plain statement of the claim showing that the pleader is entitled to relief, and (2) a demand for judgment for the relief the pleader seeks." There is nothing in NRCP 8 that makes any mention of an expert affidavit requirement for what are otherwise only required to be notice pleadings; to the contrary, NRCP 8(e) states "[e]ach averment of a pleading shall be simple, concise, and direct. No technical forms of pleading or motions are required."

NRCP 9 governs the pleading of special matters. NRCP 9(b) expressly defines under what circumstances a plaintiff will be required to meet a heightened pleading standard. These circumstances include "fraud, mistake, condition of the mind." *Id.* Even Rule 9's heightened pleading standard does not require an affidavit or certificate of merit. This is because the purpose of the heightened pleading requirement was to ensure that plaintiffs alleging fraud do so with enough particularity to put defendants on notice of the claims against them. *See Risinger v. SOC LLC*, 936 F. Supp. 2d 1235, 1241 (D. Nev. 2013); Fed. R. Civ. P. 8(a)(2); *Bell Atlantic Corp. v. Twombly*, 550 U.S. 544, 555 (2007); *Ashcroft v. Iqbal*, 556 U.S. 662, 678 (2009).

Taken together, NRS 41A.071 conflicts with NRCP 8, as it places an additional pleading requirement on medical malpractice claimants that is not otherwise required by this Court. And it is not the legislatures' role to create procedural rules for this Court.

When it enacted NRS 41A.071, the Nevada Legislature impermissibly altered Nevada's long-standing legal history as a "notice-pleading state," to a merit-based pleading standard when alleging professional negligence. *W States Const., Inc. v. Michoff*, 108 Nev. 931, 936, 840 P.2d 1220, 1223 (1992). Black's Law Dictionary defines "notice" as "1. To give legal notice to or of. 2. To realize or give attention to." *NOTICE*, Black's Law Dictionary (10th ed. 2014). Black's Law Dictionary defines "meritorious" as "deserving of esteem or reward 2. (Of a case, etc.) worthy of legal victory; having enough legal value to prevail in a dispute." MERITORIOUS, Black's Law Dictionary (10th ed. 2014). Therefore, the standard created by NRS 41A.071 requires claimants to not only plead with specificity and particularity, putting the defendants on notice of the alleged conduct, but also to prove to the court that they

can likely prevail prior to obtaining discovery. In other words, the plaintiffs must be able to prove their case before ever gaining access to the courts.

NRS 41A.071 is by definition procedural, and not substantive. For example, the Washington Supreme Court held that the state's affidavit statute is procedural because it addresses how to file a claim to enforce a right provided by law. *See e.g. Hiatt v. S. Health Facilities, Inc.*, 68 Ohio St.3d 236, 238, 626 N.E.2d 71 (Ohio 1994) ("Since the conflict involves the form and content of the complaint to initiate a medical malpractice case, it is a procedural matter."). NRS 41A.071 does not address the primary rights of either party; it deals only with the procedures to bring before the judiciary a dispute concerning those rights. Therefore, it is a procedural law and will not prevail over the conflicting court rules.

While it is understandable that some cases may necessitate a heightened pleading standard, such rules should be left to the discretion of the judiciary. For example, the Arkansas Supreme Court found that the affidavit requirement of their medical malpractice statute was unconstitutional for this exact reason, finding the affidavit requirement conflicted with Rule 3 of the Arkansas Rules of Civil Procedure. *Summerville v. Thrower*, 369 Ark 231, 239, 253 S.W.3d 415, 420 (2007). There, the affidavit requirement required an expert affidavit to be filed within 30 days after the Complaint is filed. The decision noted that Ark. Statue Ann. § 16-144-209 was enacted and was justified "in the Emergency Clause on the basis that lower

medical-malpractice insurance costs will follow." *Summerville* at 420. Therefore, the Arkansas Supreme Court concluded the statue was a procedural rule; and, accordingly, it fell within the domain of the court rules. *Id.* Ultimately, the Arkansas Supreme Court held the law was directly in conflict with the Arkansas Court Rule 3 Commencement of Action because it conflicted with Ark. R. Civ. P. 11(b) allowing for a safe harbor for a plaintiff to correct any deficiencies in their Complaint. *Id.* at 420–22.

Likewise, the Supreme Court of Mississippi held that a statute containing a requirement that a complaint be accompanied by a certificate or waiver was a procedural law. Wimley v. Reid, 991 So.2d 135, 135 (Miss. 2008). Therefore, the Supreme Court of Mississippi deemed the statute unconstitutional as the legislature must "refrain from promulgating procedural statutes which require dismissal of a complaint, and particularly a complaint filed in full compliance with the Mississippi Rules of Civil Procedure." Id. at 138. The Mississippi Court reasoned that "a complaint, otherwise properly filed, may not be dismissed, and need not be amended, simply because the plaintiff failed to attach a certificate or waiver." Id. Thus, the Mississippi certificate statue conflicted with Rule 8 of Mississippi's rules of civil procedure which requires "a short and plain statement of the claim showing that the pleader is entitled to relief, and (2) a demand for judgment for the relief to which he deems himself entitled.... Rule 8(e) provides that averments in the complaint be

'simple, concise, and direct,' and that '[n]o technical forms of pleading... are required." *Id.* at 138–39. The Supreme Court of Mississippi even stated that the statutory requirement was totally inconsistent with Mississippi's Rule 8(f) requirement that "pleadings shall be so construed as to do substantial justice." *Id.* at 138.

In addition, the Washington Supreme Court held the "[m]edical malpractice claims are fundamentally negligence claims, rooted in the common law tradition and are thus not exempt from the rules of civil procedure." Putman v. Wenatchee Valley Med. Ctr., 166 Wash. 2d 974, 982, 216 P.3d 374, 378 (2009). The Putman court went on to hold that Washington's expert affidavit requirement conflicted with Rules 8 and 11 of that state's Superior Court Civil Rules in violation of the separation of powers and invalidated the statute as unconstitutional. Id. The Washington Supreme Court emphasized that the statute violated the separation of powers because it conflicted with the Rule 8 "regarding pleading requirements and thereby encroaches on the judiciary's power to set court rules." Id. at 377. The Washington Supreme Court even acknowledged that the Washington State Constitution does not contain a formal separation of powers clause, like Nevada's State Constitution does; yet, the Court declared the "the very division of our government into different branches has been presumed throughout our state's history to give rise to a vital separation of powers doctrine." Id.

Like Nevada's Rule 8, Rule 8 of the Washington Rules of Civil Procedure "requires only 'a short and plain statement of the claim' and a demand for relief in order to file a lawsuit." *Putman* at 379. Rule 11 of the Washington Rules of Civil procedure states that a complaint "need not, but may be, verified or accompanied by affidavit." Wash. Super. Ct. Civ. R. 11. Though less specific, Washington's Rule 11 is similar to NRCP 8(e), which states that "[n]o technical forms of pleading or motions are required." Because Washington's medical malpractice statute created an additional pleading requirement for medical malpractice claimants, the Washington Supreme Court found that the statute conflicted with the pre-existing rules of civil procedure. As such, the Washington Supreme Court correctly held that the statute violated the premise behind separation of powers, and the Nevada Supreme Court should come to the same conclusion.

This argument, that this type of procedural rule is for the judiciary, not the legislature, to make, is furthered by the fact that several states have implemented the affidavit of merit requirement through the judiciary, rather than through the legislature. *See e.g.* Tex. Civil Practices & Remedies Code Ann. § 74-351; Ohio R. Civ. P. 10; Pa. R. Civ. P. 1042.3; N.Y. Civil Practice & Rules Law § 3012-a; Md. Courts & Judicial Proceedings Code Ann. § 3-2A-04. Alternatively, several states have implemented a similar, but less burdensome requirement that the attorney may certify through affidavit that he has reviewed the records, consulted an expert, and

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