IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

MARILEE BROWN, MARILOU BROWN GREGORY J. BROWN (FOR BEVERLY M. BROWN'S FAMILY),

Appellants,

vs.

ST. MARY'S REGIONAL MEDICAL CENTER; TAMMY EVANS (ERRONEOUSLY NAMED AS TAMI EVANS); PREM REDDY, M.D.; TANZEEL ISLAM, M.D., SRIDEVI CHALLAPALLI, M.D.; and MARK MCALLISTER, M.D. Case No.Esquitanica Ay Filed Oct 14 2021 03:59 p.m. Dist. Ct. Ct. Elizabeth 2000 2000 Clerk of Supreme Court

Respondents.

APPEAL FROM THE SECOND JUDICIAL DISTRICT COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA, IN AND FOR THE COUNTY OF WASHOE; THE HONORABLE KATHLEEN DRAKULICH, DISTRICT JUDGE

RESPONDENT MARK McALLISTER, M.D.'S ANSWERING BRIEF

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

This professional negligence action was properly dismissed without prejudice and without leave to amend on the authority of NRS 41A.071 and *Washoe Medical Center* and its progeny. The Browns' belated attempt to assert non-medical claims to avoid the affidavit requirement of NRS 41A.071 was correctly rejected by the district court. The district court's finding was supported by the facts before it, which included the allegations in the complaint. The Browns' own pleading demonstrated that their sole claim was for medical negligence based on the medical treatment rendered to Mrs. Brown. Therefore, the district court correctly found that the complaint was subject to the requirements of NRS 41A.071. And because the Browns admittedly failed to comply with NRS 41A.071, dismissal was mandated without leave to amend, based on the authority of *Washoe Medical Center*.

Appellant's Opening Brief has not demonstrated error in the district court's factual findings or legal analysis. The only challenge to the district court's order is to the finding that the alleged delay in transmitting the St. Mary's records to Renown sounded in professional negligence and thus required compliance with NRS 41A.071. Yet, the opening brief does not analyze the district court's finding or the law on which its determination is based. *AOB 24-26*. Even if this issue had been properly analyzed, reversal is not warranted as to Dr. McAllister because the allegation of delayed transmission of records is not asserted against Dr. McAllister.

Unable to find error in the district court's analysis, appellants resort to specious constitutional challenges to NRS 41A.071, including separation of powers, due process and equal protection challenges. The same or similar arguments have previously been addressed and rejected by the Nevada Supreme Court.

The district court's rulings are in conformity with established Nevada precedent regarding the application of NRS 41A.071 in professional negligence cases. Therefore, the Order Granting Motion to Dismiss for Failure to Comply with NRS 41A.071 may properly be affirmed.

V.

ARGUMENT

A. STANDARDS OF REVIEW

The court reviews de novo a district court order granting an NRCP 12(b)(5) motion to dismiss, "accepting all of the plaintiff's factual allegations as true and drawing every reasonable inference in the plaintiff's favor to determine whether the allegations are sufficient to state a claim for relief." *Szymborski*, 133 Nev. at 640, 403 P.3d at 1283, citing *DeBoer v. Sr. Bridges of Sparks Fam. Hosp.*, 128 Nev. 406, 409, 282 P.3d 727, 730 (2012) (internal quotation marks omitted). "[W]hether a claim sounds in medical malpractice or negligence is a legal question." *Turner v. Renown Regional Medical Center*, 2020 WL 1972790, *1, Docket Nos. 77312, 77841 (Nev., April 23, 2020) (unpublished disposition) (citations omitted).

The court also employs de novo review of "questions of constitutional interpretation and statutory construction." *Peck*, 133 Nev. at 892, 407 P.3d at 778.

The court reviews the denial of leave to amend for an abuse of discretion. Anderson v. Mandalay Corp., 131 Nev. 825, 832, 358 P.3d 242, 247 (2015).

B. THE DISTRICT COURT PROPERLY DISMISSED THE ACTION FOR LACK OF AN EXPERT AFFIDAVIT

The bulk of Appellants' Opening Brief consists of a multi-faceted constitutional challenge to NRS 41A.071, contending that the statute is unconstitutional because it violates separation of powers and the equal protection and due process clauses of the United States and Nevada constitutions. Appellants then proceed to argue that the "common knowledge" exception to NRS 41A.071 applies – an argument that was not raised below – without demonstrating error in the district court's determination that the complaint did not comply with NRS 41A.071. As the application of NRS 41A.071 is central to this appeal, this brief will begin by analyzing the propriety of the district court's order, after which it will address each of appellants' constitutional challenges.

1. Standards Applicable to Motion to Dismiss Under NRCP 12(b)(5)

"A complaint should only be dismissed for failure to state a claim if 'it appears beyond a doubt that it could prove no set of facts, which, if true, would entitle it to relief." *Szymborski*, 133 Nev. at 641, 403 P.3d at 1283, quoting *DeBoer*, 128 Nev. at 410, 282 P.3d at 730. "In contrast, NRS 41A.071 provides that '[i]f an action for medical malpractice . . . is filed in the district court, the court shall dismiss the action, without prejudice, if the action is filed without a[] [medical expert affidavit."" *Szymborski*, 133 Nev. at 641, 403 P.3d at 1283 (alterations in original; citation and footnote omitted).

2. Plaintiffs were Required to Comply with NRS 41A.071's Affidavit

Requirement to Support their Medical Negligence Action

NRS 41A.071 provides:

If an action for professional negligence is filed in the district court, the district court shall dismiss the action, without prejudice, if the action is filed without an affidavit that:

1. Supports the allegations contained in the action;

2. Is submitted by a medical expert who practices or has practiced in an area that is substantially similar to the type of practice engaged in at the time of the alleged professional negligence;

3. Identifies by name, or describes by conduct, each provider of health care who is alleged to be negligent; and

4. Sets forth factually a specific act or acts of alleged negligence separately as to each defendant in simple, concise and direct terms.

The statute requires a district court to dismiss a professional negligence complaint if it lacks an expert affidavit. As noted by the district court, and contrary to the Browns' argument below, the word "shall" in NRS 41A.071 "'is mandatory and does not denote judicial discretion.'" *R.App. 207, citing Washoe Medical Center*, 122 Nev. at 1303, 148 P.3d at 793; *compare R.App. 33 (arguing that "shall" is not mandatory)*. A complaint filed without an expert affidavit is void and cannot be amended to cure the dereliction. *Id.* at 1304, 148 P.3d at 794.

The Browns admitted, and the district court found, that "the Complaint does not contain a medical expert affidavit." *R.App. 207; see also R.App. 33:3-6.* The complaint did not include a claim for "ordinary negligence," or assert that the plaintiffs were excused from complying NRS 41A.071. Instead, the Browns asked for additional time to obtain an expert affidavit, arguing that "shall" is permissive and that the district court had discretion to give them time to obtain a medical expert's affidavit. *R.App. 33:3-6; 35:1-2.* The Browns have evidently abandoned that argument on appeal and now claim that their complaint falls within the "common knowledge" exception to the affidavit requirement. *See AOB 24-26.*

Based on the unambiguous statutory language and controlling Nevada case law, it cannot reasonably be argued that the district court erred in dismissing the action for failure to comply with NRS 41A.071. Lacking a basis for doing so, appellants seek to avoid the application of NRS 41A.071 by contending that the complaint asserted a claim for ordinary negligence and was within the "common knowledge" exception to the affidavit requirement. *AOB 24, 26.* Appellants' arguments do not salvage their claim, especially as to Dr. McAllister.

Initially, the Browns have not shown that the district court erred in finding that their complaint was for medical negligence and required compliance with NRS 41A.071. Appellants' entire argument on this issue fails to even mention the district court's order or its reasoning. *See AOB 24-26*. The Browns' silence in this regard may be because the complaint explicitly challenges the medical care rendered by Dr. McAllister and the other health care providers, whom they accuse of "medical negligence" or "medical malpractice." *See, e.g., R.App. 2, 3, 8, 9, 10, 12, 14-16.*

As specifically addressed in the district court's order, the complaint alleged that "Defendants did commit Medical Negligent actions, to include Medicinal, Treatment, Judgment, protocol, Etc [sic] errors against the Plaintiffs which led to the Wrongful Suffering and Death of their mother" *R.App. 205.* The district court noted that this language or substantially similar language was "repeated three times in this section of the Complaint." *R.App. 205, citing page 14 of the complaint; see also R.App 207.* The district court also noted that "all of the allegations contained in the Complaint directly involve medical judgment, diagnosis, or treatment that Ms. Brown allegedly received or should have received, which the Nevada Supreme Court has held means the claim sounds in professional negligence." *R.App. 205.* The district court repeatedly cited in its order. *See, e.g., R.App. 205-06.*

In *Szymborski*, the Nevada Supreme Court explained the differences between medical versus non-medical claims:

Allegations of breach of duty involving medical judgment, diagnosis, or treatment indicate that a claim is for medical malpractice. [Citations omitted.] By extension, if the jury can only evaluate the plaintiff's claims after presentation of the standards of care by a medical expert, then it is a medical malpractice claim. [Citations omitted.] If, on the other hand, the reasonableness of the health care provider's actions can

be evaluated by jurors on the basis of their common knowledge and experience, then the claim is likely based in ordinary negligence. [Citation omitted.]

Szymborski, 133 Nev. at 641-42, 403 P.3d at 1284, citing, *inter alia, Humboldt Gen.* Hosp. v. Sixth Judicial Dist. Court, 132 Nev. 544, 376 P.3d 167 (2016).

The district court applied *Szymborski* to the purported "non-medical claims" of failing to follow protocol, lack of communication, age discrimination/jeopardy to the elderly, negligence in jeopardizing other's safety by exposing them to infectious persons, and failure to expedite the transmission of medical records. *R.App. 205.* The district court proceeded to thoroughly analyze each of the purported "non-medical claims," finding that they were based on allegations of professional negligence and thus required compliance with NRS 41A.071. *Id. at 206-07.* Based on the allegations in their complaint and the repeated references to "medical malpractice," and "medical negligence" the district court found appellants' efforts to advance "non-medical claims" unavailing to salvage their incurably defective complaint or to excuse compliance with NRS 41A.071. *R.App. 206-07.*

Appellants' Opening Brief does not address, much less demonstrate error in, the district court's analysis or its findings. Instead, appellants cursorily argue that "some" of the Browns' allegations sound in ordinary negligence and do not require compliance with NRS 41A.071. *AOB 24-26*. The only "non-medical claim" referenced in appellants' brief is based on the assertion that "the hospital staff" was

negligent in failing to forward records to Renown Regional Medical Center. They contend that this allegation falls within the "common knowledge" exception to the affidavit requirement. *AOB 26*.

Appellants' argument does not demonstrate reversible error, especially as to Dr. McAllister, who is not "hospital staff" and is not alleged to have been involved in the transmittal of St. Mary's records.³ *R.App. 5:7-8.* The issue regarding the transmittal of medical records arose in March of 2019, when Mrs. Brown was hospitalized at Renown. *R.App. 40:8* (\P 5). There is no allegation or suggestion in the complaint, the opposition or even in the opening brief that Dr. McAllister was Mrs. Brown's treating physician at that time, or that he had any involvement in receiving, or responding to, a request for medical records. *R.App. 5:7-9 (complaint); R.App. 40:8 (opposition); AOB 26.*⁴

Nor does Appellants' Opening Brief address the district court's finding that the alleged failure to expedite the medical documentation is properly characterized

³ The complaint alleges: "St. Mary's Hospital failed to timely fax vital documentation requested by Renown for assisting in the care and treatment of patient." *R.App.* 5:7-8. The complaint further alleges that the alleged delay "impact[ed] vital care and treatment and contributed to patient's death on 3/5/19." *R.App.* 5:8-9.

⁴ Indeed, on this point appellants' argument lacks any citations to the record in violation of NRAP 28(e)(1), and thus need not be considered. *See Allianz Ins. Co. v. Gagnon*, 109 Nev. 990, 997, 860 P.2d 720 (1993) (court need not consider contentions unaccompanied by citations to the record).

as medical malpractice, and that the failure to expedite medical documents is pertinent to the diagnosis and treatment of Mrs. Brown and therefore is not a claim for ordinary negligence. *R.App. 206.* The opening brief does not even address the case law on which the district court relied in reaching its conclusion, namely, *Jones v. Wilkin*, 111 Nev. 1335, 1338, 95 P.2d 166, 168 (1995). Therefore, this court may decline to consider appellants' argument. *See Edwards v. Emperor's Garden Restaurant*, 122 Nev. 317, 330, n.38, 130 P.3d 1280, 1288 n.8 (2006) (if an appellant neglects to fulfil his or her responsibility to cogently argue and present relevant authority in support of his or her appellant concerns, this court will not consider the claims).

Should the court nevertheless consider this argument, it may summarily reject it because, as pointed out in the district court's order, the complaint does not assert a separate claim for ordinary negligence or any claim other than medical malpractice. *See R.App. 207.* As noted by the district court:

To the extent Plaintiffs are now contending that claims for ordinary negligence were pled, they have failed to set forth the necessary elements of those claims and/or factual allegations sufficient to support those claims denying Defendants "adequate notice of the nature of the claim and the relief sought" in violation of *Hay*.

R.App. 207, quoting from Hay v. Hay, 100 Nev. 196, 678 P.2d 672 (1984). Appellants' Opening Brief does not address the district court's findings on this point, thus waiving the issue. *See Powell v. Liberty Mut. Fire Ins. Co.,* 127 Nev. 156, 161

23

n.3, 252 P.3d 668, 672 n.3 (2011) ("Issues not raised in an appellant's opening brief are deemed waived."); *Edwards*, 122 Nev. at 330 n.38, 130 P.3d at 1288 n.38 (the court will not consider argument that are not cogently argued and supported by relevant authority).

Because the allegations of failing to expeditiously fax medical records to Renown is only asserted against St. Mary's, Dr. McAllister will defer to the Hospital Defendants for further analysis on this issue. Suffice it to say, that appellants have not demonstrated the applicability of their sole argument to Dr. McAllister, nor have they demonstrated error in the district court's ruling.

The only purported "non-medical" allegation that the Browns asserted against "the interventional radiologist" (Dr. McAllister) was for the alleged "lack of communication" with Mrs. Brown's cardiologist. *See R.App. 3, 141:18-24.* As to the "lack of communication" allegations, the district court found that the allegations sounded in professional negligence. Specifically, the district court found:

[T]he only usage of the word "communication" in the Complaint deals with "the communication between providers and patients/patients' families so as to ensure the improvement of quality care, healthcare improvement and less Medical Medicinal, Judgment mistakes/error that lead [sic] to the deteriorating medical condition, suffering and preventable death of patients as what happened in this case"

R.App. 206, quoting complaint at 16:26-17:2; see also R.App. 6:8-10. The district court thus found that the failure of communication alleged in the complaint was "rooted in professional negligence," and did not "form an independent basis for an

ordinary negligence claim, such that an expert affidavit would not be required in this case."⁵ *R.App. 206.*

Appellants' Opening Brief does not address the district court's finding on this point. *See AOB 24-26.* Thus, appellants have waived any challenge to the district court's finding on this issue. *See Powell,* 127 Nev. at 161 n.3, 252 P.3d at 672 n.3 ("Issues not raised in an appellant's opening brief are deemed waived."); *Edwards,* 122 Nev. at 330 n.38, 130 P.3d at 1288 n.38 (the court declined to consider appellant's argument regarding the district court's dismissal of his claims where the appellant neglected to address it in his brief).

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